# **IOP**science

Prethermalization revealed by the relaxation dynamics of full distribution functions

This content has been downloaded from IOPscience. Please scroll down to see the full text.

Download details:

IP Address: 140.247.123.188 This content was downloaded on 30/09/2013 at 14:38

Please note that terms and conditions apply.

# **New Journal of Physics**

The open access journal for physic

# Prethermalization revealed by the relaxation dynamics of full distribution functions

D Adu Smith<sup>1</sup>, M Gring<sup>1</sup>, T Langen<sup>1</sup>, M Kuhnert<sup>1</sup>, B Rauer<sup>1</sup>, R Geiger<sup>1</sup>, T Kitagawa<sup>2</sup>, I Mazets<sup>1,3</sup>, E Demler<sup>2</sup> and J Schmiedmayer<sup>1,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Vienna Center for Quantum Science and Technology (VCQ), Atominstitut, TU Wien, Vienna, Austria <sup>2</sup> Harvard–MIT Center for Ultracold Atoms, Department of Physics, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA <sup>3</sup> Ioffe Physico-Technical Institute of the Russian Academy of Sciences, 194021 St Petersburg, Russia E-mail: schmiedmayer@atomchip.org

New Journal of Physics 15 (2013) 075011 (31pp) Received 18 December 2012 Published 16 July 2013 Online at http://www.njp.org/ doi:10.1088/1367-2630/15/7/075011

Abstract. We detail the experimental observation of the non-equilibrium many-body phenomenon prethermalization. We study the dynamics of a rapidly and coherently split one-dimensional Bose gas. An analysis based on the use of full quantum mechanical probability distributions of matter wave interference contrast reveals that the system evolves toward a quasi-steady state. This state, which can be characterized by an effective temperature, is not the final thermal equilibrium state. We compare the evolution of the system to an integrable Tomonaga-Luttinger liquid model, and show that the system dephases to a prethermalized state rather than undergoing thermalization toward a final thermal equilibrium state.

<sup>4</sup> Author to whom any correspondence should be addressed.

Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 licence.  $(\mathbf{\hat{n}})$ 

(cc) Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

New Journal of Physics 15 (2013) 075011 1367-2630/13/075011+31\$33.00

© IOP Publishing Ltd and Deutsche Physikalische Gesellschaft

# Contents

1.	Introduction		2
2.	Non-equilibrium dynamics of interfering one-dimensional Bose gases		3
	2.1.	Experimental system	3
	2.2.	Initial non-equilibrium state and thermal equilibrium	5
	2.3.	Full distribution functions of matter wave interference contrast	6
3.	Experimental details		
	3.1.	Realizing a quench: the coherent splitting process	7
	3.2.	Probing the system	9
	3.3.	Extraction of the matter wave interference contrast	13
	3.4.	Comparison of the two imaging methods	13
4.	<b>Observation of prethermalization</b>		14
	4.1.	Dynamics of the full quantum mechanical probability distribution functions of	
		matter wave interference contrast	14
	4.2.	Emergence of an effective temperature	16
5.	Long-term evolution of the system1		18
6.	Luttinger liquid description of the dephasing of the system		20
	6.1.	Summary of the theoretical model	21
	6.2.	Quantitative comparison between experiment and theory	23
7.	Dephasing, not thermalization 2		24
8.	Conclusion		27
Ac	Acknowledgments		27
Re	References		

# 1. Introduction

A general understanding of the dynamics of non-equilibrium quantum many-body systems is an important unsolved problem impacting many areas of physics [1, 2]. In particular, the question of why and how isolated quantum systems relax toward equilibrium states has only been studied for a very limited number of special systems [3–5]. Moreover, in many cases, such as when dealing with integrable systems exhibiting many constants of motion, efficient relaxation can be completely absent [6] or strongly inhibited.

An intriguing phenomenon that has recently been experimentally demonstrated in this context is prethermalization [7, 8]. The concept of prethermalization was first introduced in order to explain the remarkable success in applying thermodynamic models to heavy-ion collision experiments on time scales much shorter than the expected thermalization time of the scattered particles [7, 9–11]. In particular, the successful application of hydrodynamics [12] relies on the assumption of being at least approximately close to thermal equilibrium at every point in space and the presence of an equation of state [13, 14].

Taking a low-energy quark-meson model as a model system, Berges *et al* [7] suggested an explanation in 2004 for this unexpected, apparent early thermalization. In their theoretical analysis, Berges *et al* were able to show that after a very rapid initial evolution, their model system relaxes to a non-thermal quasi-steady state. This intermediate state is very robust with

respect to changing initial conditions and already shows many of the bulk characteristics of the final thermal state. For example, the ratio of kinetic energy to pressure (i.e. the equation of state) or a properly defined kinetic temperature is already practically indistinguishable from their values in thermal equilibrium. In contrast, mode quantities such as the occupation numbers of different momentum modes are still far away from a true thermal equilibrium even though during the initial rapid evolution they also reach quasi-steady values. Their work showed that although the model system had not yet fully thermalized, it could in many aspects be described using a thermal model. Accordingly, the above described phenomenon was termed *pre*thermalization.

Since then, prethermalization has been discussed in the context of many other systems, ranging from models in relativistic field theories [15] and the dynamics of the early universe [16] to systems which can be realized using ultracold atoms, such as systems obeying the Hubbard model [17–19], spinor condensates [20], quantum Ising chains [21], two-dimensional superfluids [22] or one-dimensional (1D) quasi-condensates [23, 24].

In the present understanding, prethermalization is characterized by the rapid establishment of a quasi-stationary state on time scales much shorter than the expected thermalization time. This state is long lived and already exhibits some thermal-like properties, but can still be very different from the true thermal equilibrium state of the system. A full relaxation to thermal equilibrium, if present at all, is then expected to happen on a further much-longer time scale. While thermalization can be interpreted as a *full* loss of the memory of the system about its initial state, prethermalization describes only a *partial* loss of information about the initial state.

In the following, we discuss the direct observation of the prethermalized state presented in [8] in more detail. We give, in particular, the details of the experimental system and analysis methods used to reveal the prethermalization and present additional evaluations that support the findings of [8]. An even more complete description can be found in the PhD Thesis of Gring [25].

#### 2. Non-equilibrium dynamics of interfering one-dimensional Bose gases

#### 2.1. Experimental system

The experimental study is performed using trapped 1D Bose gases. Such systems offer two unique advantages for non-equilibrium experiments. First, on the experimental side, realizing them with ultracold atoms facilitates a precise preparation and probing of the system. Secondly, on the theoretical side, 1D Bose gases offer a model system that contains complex manybody physics, but can still be captured with reasonable theoretical effort, particularly due to the existence of effective models that allow one to describe the essential physics in a relatively simple way [26]. Furthermore, the homogeneous 1D Bose gas with repulsive contact interactions is an example of a fully integrable quantum system [27, 28]. The approximate realization of such a system in experiments thus allows the study of thermalization in the vicinity of multiple conserved quantities and hence the study of the interplay between integrability, many-body dynamics and thermalization.

Figure 1 summarizes the main idea of our experimental study of prethermalization using 1D Bose gases in the quasi-condensate regime [29-31]. In this regime, density fluctuations are strongly suppressed and the gas is characterized by strong phase fluctuations. The properties of these phase fluctuations are determined by the temperature and the density of the system. In the

#### IOP Institute of Physics DEUTSCHE PHYSIKALISCHE GESELLSCHAFT



Figure 1. Overview of the experiments performed in the context of this work [8]. (a), (b) A phase fluctuating 1D quasi-condensate is coherently split creating two 1D gases with almost identical phase profiles  $\phi_L(z)$  and  $\phi_R(z)$  (represented by the black solid lines). The gases are then allowed to evolve in the doublewell potential for some time  $t_e$  which leads to strong fluctuations in the local phase difference  $\phi(z)$  and a decrease of the phase correlation length  $\lambda_{\phi}$ . The question at which this experiment aims is whether and how this dynamical state reaches the thermal equilibrium state corresponding to two independently created quasi-condensates. In this thermal equilibrium state the phase difference between the 1D gases fluctuates strongly along its length and the correlation length  $\lambda_{\rm T}$  is determined by the temperature and density of each cloud. (c) The phase difference  $\phi(z)$  between the two 1D gases is probed through time-offlight matter wave interference of the two gases where the local relative phase is directly transformed to a local phase shift of the interference pattern. The contrast C(L) of the axially integrated interference pattern can then be used as a direct measure of the strength of the relative phase fluctuations. Figure adapted from Gring *et al* [8].

experiment such a single trapped quasi-condensate is rapidly and coherently split, producing two uncoupled 1D gases with identical phase profiles. The aim of our study is to probe how these initially almost perfect correlations of the relative phase become obscured over time and if the thermal equilibrium state corresponding to two completely independent gases is finally reached [32, 33]. To this end, the two gases are allowed to evolve in the double-well potential for a varying evolution time  $t_e$  before the relative phase correlations are probed via time-offlight matter wave interference (figure 1(c)). As differences in the relative phase lead to a locally displaced interference pattern, the contrast of the longitudinally integrated interference pattern is a direct probe for the dynamics of the system [34–37]. Example interference patterns after various evolution times, demonstrating the loss of the initial phase coherence, are shown in figure 1.





**Figure 2.** Comparison of the initial non-equilibrium state prepared by the coherent splitting process and the thermal equilibrium state of two independent quasi-condensates. The system can be described by a combination of relative degrees of freedom (a) and common degrees of freedom (b). After the coherent splitting the common degrees of freedom contain all the thermal energy  $E \sim k_{\rm B}T$  of the system, whereas the relative degrees of freedom contain only the quantum noise of the splitting process. Here,  $k_{\rm B}$  is Boltzmann's constant and T the temperature of the system. In thermal equilibrium all degrees of freedom contain the same amount of thermal energy and are thus characterized by the same temperature.

#### 2.2. Initial non-equilibrium state and thermal equilibrium

A prerequisite for non-equilibrium experiments is the ability to precisely prepare and characterize both the initial non-equilibrium state and the expected thermal equilibrium state of the system. One of the key advantages of coherently split 1D Bose gases is that both these states can be prepared and described with high precision.

For a general system of two spatially separated 1D Bose gases, the excitations can be described by anti-symmetric and symmetric longitudinal modes which relate to the relative and common degrees of freedom of the two halves of the system. They are given by

$$\phi(y) = \phi_{\rm L}(y) - \phi_{\rm R}(y), \quad \phi_{\rm com}(y) = \frac{\phi_{\rm R}(y) + \phi_{\rm L}(y)}{2}$$
 (1)

for the phase, and

$$n(y) = \frac{n_{\rm R}(y) - n_{\rm L}(y)}{2}, \quad n_{\rm com}(y) = n_{\rm R}(y) + n_{\rm L}(y)$$
(2)

for the density. Here  $\phi_{L,R}(y)$  describes the longitudinal phase profiles and  $n_{L,R}(y)$  the density of the left and the right gas, respectively.

After the coherent splitting, the individual phase profiles of the two halves are almost identical and hence the relative phase profile is almost flat (figure 2, left column). In terms

New Journal of Physics 15 (2013) 075011 (http://www.njp.org/)

of excitations, this means that all the thermal excitations are initially contained in the common degrees of freedom. As we will detail in section 6, the relative degrees of freedom, on the other hand, are initially populated only by quantum noise created in the splitting process.

In thermal equilibrium, we expect to find the system in a state where the energies in the relative and in the common degrees of freedom are equal (figure 2, right column). This thermal equilibrium state corresponds to the situation of two independently created quasi-condensates where the phase profiles of the clouds are uncorrelated down to the thermal phase correlation lengths, resulting in a relative phase profile that fluctuates strongly along the length of the system [32, 33]. In experiment, the thermal equilibrium situation can be purposely created, by splitting a thermal gas into two, followed by the creation of two independent quasi-condensates through further cooling in the double well.

The transition between the initial non-equilibrium state and the thermal equilibrium state can therefore be directly probed by studying the relative phase fluctuations.

Considering the above, we note that any thermalization mechanism must necessarily redistribute the mode populations of the relative and common degrees of freedom to lead to the thermal equilibrium situation.

## 2.3. Full distribution functions of matter wave interference contrast

Previous experiments have also investigated the dynamics of split Bose gases [38, 39] or equivalent systems [40]. In these works, though, due to the lack of theoretical or experimental tools for a full characterization of the transient states, the driving mechanism of the dynamics could not or only indirectly be revealed. Consequently, the state to which the system decayed remained elusive.

This directly illustrates the key challenge common for most experiments trying to observe non-equilibrium dynamics: the scarcity of experimental tools for characterizing the complex many-body states during the evolution. In this work, this problem is approached by generalizing tools developed for studying equilibrium systems of spatially separated 1D Bose gases [32, 33, 35, 41] by applying them to the non-equilibrium case, as recently proposed in [23, 24]. For this purpose, we measure the time evolution of *full quantum mechanical probability distribution functions (FDFs)*.

When dealing with quantum many-body systems, valuable information about the underlying quantum state of the system can be gained through noise correlation measurements. Performing such measurements has already deepened our understanding of quantum mechanics as it led to the discovery of the Hanbury Brown–Twiss effect [42] which triggered the development of modern quantum optics [43]. Furthermore, the study of current fluctuations led to important observations in quantum-Hall systems [44, 45]. Recently in atomic physics the analysis of noise correlations revealed the coherence properties of atom lasers [46] and enabled observations of the Hanbury Brown–Twiss effect for massive fermions and bosons [47]. It was further suggested [48] and experimentally demonstrated [49–53] that noise correlations in time of flight can be used to probe strongly correlated equilibrium states of quantum many-body systems.

In 1D systems, fluctuations play a much more pronounced role than in their threedimensional (3D) counterparts [54, 55]. The interference pattern of two expanding 1D quasicondensates therefore inherently contains strong noise and fluctuations that can be used to study the many-body state of the system. When performing interference experiments with spatially separated 1D Bose gases, one is furthermore in the advantageous position that the interference pattern itself is directly related to the correlation functions of the system. For example, the mean squared value of the integrated matter wave interference contrast  $\langle |C|^2 \rangle$  is a measure of the integrated two-point phase correlation function. Similarly, by exploiting the strong shot-to-shot fluctuations of the contrast, higher moments of the contrast can be obtained which contain information about higher-order correlation functions [35, 56]. An experimentally accessible quantity capturing all these higher moments of the contrast and therefore also the higher-order correlation functions is given by the full distribution function of the contrast P(C). This function describes all the fluctuations of C in the measurement, as P(C) dC measures the probability of observing a contrast between C and C + dC. Higher moments of  $\langle C^k \rangle$  of the contrast can be obtained by integration  $\int C^k P(C) dC$ .

It is important to point out that the method of using FDFs to characterize a system requires the detection of *single* realizations of the quantum system in question. If only ensemble averages can be measured in the experiment, the statistics of those values will always be Gaussian due to the central limit theorem and the characteristic higher moments of the observable will not be accessible. The method of analyzing quantum states through the FDFs has already been successfully used to characterize isolated [32] and tunnel-coupled [33] systems of two separated 1D Bose gases in equilibrium. Within the context of [23, 24], this method was extended theoretically to non-equilibrium systems, whereas the experimental demonstration of this method is the topic of the work presented here and in [8].

#### 3. Experimental details

The preparation of the atomic sample is performed following our standard procedure [57] using magnetically trapped <sup>87</sup>Rb in the  $5S_{1/2}$  F = 2,  $m_F = 2$  state on an atom chip [58]. The atom chip is a current-carrying gold structure micro-fabricated on a silicon substrate. A basic outline of the most important structures on the chip is given in figure 3(a).

#### 3.1. Realizing a quench: the coherent splitting process

We first create a single-well trap using the static magnetic field of a 100  $\mu$ m wide wire in combination with homogeneous bias fields. Longitudinal confinement is provided by additional wires. The trap is located at a distance of about 100  $\mu$ m away from the atom chip surface (see figure 3(a)). This strongly anisotropic trap has measured trap frequencies of  $\omega_{\perp} = 2\pi \times (2.1 \pm 0.1)$  kHz (radial confinement) and  $\omega_{\parallel} = 2\pi \times (11 \pm 1)$  Hz (axial confinement).

To create the double-well potential, we use an adiabatic dressed-state potential [60, 61]. By applying RF current to two 30  $\mu$ m wide wires that are adjacent to the central 100  $\mu$ m wire, the cloud is split along the radial direction of the trap and perpendicular to the direction of gravity. This ensures that any potential sag due to gravity is common for both wells and that the 1/r dependence of the RF fields emanating from the wires is the same for both wells. For the splitting process, the amplitude of the RF current is linearly increased from 0 to typically 22.5 mA within 17 ms and the frequency is 30 kHz detuned to the red of the F = 2,  $m_F = 2 \rightarrow F = 2$ ,  $m_F = 1$  transition at the minimum of the initial static magnetic trap. This creates a double well with a separation of  $(2.75 \pm 0.05) \mu$ m, a simulated barrier height of  $(2.9 \pm 0.1)$  kHz and measured trap frequencies for each well of  $\omega_{\perp} = 2\pi \times (1.4 \pm 0.1)$  kHz and  $\omega_{\parallel} = 2\pi \times (7 \pm 1)$  Hz. Great care was taken to guarantee stability and repeatability of the



**Figure 3.** (a) Schematic view of the atom chip layout. (A) The 100  $\mu$ m wide central trapping wire, (B, C) 30  $\mu$ m wide wires for RF currents, (D) the atom cloud and (E) the silicon substrate. Additional structures, at a distance of ~1 mm from the condensate, are used to provide longitudinal confinement. Figure adapted from Gring *et al* [8]. (b) Simulation of the longitudinal density profiles of trapped quasi-condensate gases following [59]. The black solid line shows the profile of the cloud before splitting for an atom number of 6000 atoms. The colored dotted, dotted dashed and dashed lines show the profile of the sum density of two quasi-condensates trapped in the double-well trap with a longitudinal trapping frequency of 6.5, 7 and 7.5 Hz. For the experimentally realized double-well trapping frequency of 7 Hz, the profile matches almost exactly to that of the single-well trap at 11 Hz.

splitting process, especially to gain a symmetric splitting with almost zero mean atom number difference between the two halves. For the fine tuning of this quantity, the relative amplitude of the RF current applied to the two 30  $\mu$ m wide wires can be slightly adjusted.

Following [33, 62], any residual tunnel coupling between the two halves of the system was calculated to be  $J \ll 2\pi \times 0.1$  Hz. In this regime, a residual tunnel coupling would have no significant effect on the results presented in this work [41]. The absence of tunnel coupling was also confirmed by experiments with independently created condensates in the same double well [33]. In the measurements presented in section 5, we further used a larger final RF amplitude which resulted in a larger splitting distance and larger barrier height corresponding to an even lower bound for the residual coupling and found no difference to the previous results.

Although the splitting RF current was ramped up in a time of typically 17 ms, the actual splitting process is much faster than the time scale of the longitudinal dynamics and happens close to the end of the ramp when the coupling between the two gases vanishes. From the evolution of the mean relative phase between the two gases for deliberately imbalanced double wells [63], we determined this decoupling to occur  $(15 \pm 0.5)$  ms after the start of the RF ramp. All evolution times given in the following refer to this point in time. To capture also the evolution that happens after the splitting but still during the ramp up, it is possible to probe the atoms during the ramp up.

While the actual splitting is much faster than the ramp up of the RF current, the trap is nevertheless continuously deformed throughout the whole ramp up time. The choice of 17 ms total duration is a compromise between realizing a fast splitting and avoiding the excitation of collective oscillations of the cloud. The trapping frequencies of the final double well were chosen to be such that the longitudinal profile of the clouds before and after splitting are almost



**Figure 4.** Schematic view of the experimental situation considered. Splitting of the gases is performed along the *x*-axis, the *y*-axis corresponds to the axial direction of the 1D Bose gases, gravity points downwards along the *z*-axis. The atomic density distribution in time of flight can be imaged along each axis of the coordinate system using absorption imaging. Imaging along the *x*-axis is used to transversally probe single gases before the splitting or the incoherent sum of the two independent gases in the double well, the latter case being depicted in the figure. The corresponding absorption picture shows strong density fluctuations which are used for thermometry (for details see text). Imaging along the *y*-axis and the *z*-axis is used to probe the interference pattern of two 1D Bose gases. Imaging along the *y*-axis results in a projection of the interference pattern along its length, while imaging along the *z*-axis reveals the full undulating structure of the interference pattern.

exactly matched, as can be seen from the simulations in figure 3. This minimizes the creation of longitudinal breathing oscillations of the clouds during splitting. As we will discuss in section 7 these breathing oscillations and the general instability of the splitting process severely limited previous studies of coherently split 1D Bose gases [38]. We find that longitudinal center-of-mass oscillations of the clouds after splitting cannot be completely avoided without the use of more complex splitting protocols. However, these small oscillations do not significantly alter the physics as they do not change any significant parameters of the cloud such as density or total size.

# 3.2. Probing the system

The system is studied using absorption imaging, which integrates the 3D structure of the expanding atomic density distribution along the one direction of space. Figure 4 shows

schematic views of the integrated density distribution as seen from each of the three detection directions realized in the experiment.

Imaging along the x-direction is used to probe the system from its transversal direction. This can be applied both to extract information about a single quasi-condensate before the splitting process as well as about the incoherent sum of two quasi-condensates expanding from the double well. As the phase of a quasi-condensate fluctuates in space, density fluctuations will appear along its length when it is released from the trap and allowed to expand in time of flight [64–66]. These spatial density fluctuations are a direct consequence of matter wave interference between the different positions along the single quasi-condensate which have different phases. In equilibrium, the *in situ* phase profiles are determined by the temperature of the system, so that the measurement of the spectrum of density fluctuations in time of flight can be used for thermometry of the system before the splitting process, as experimentally demonstrated in [66]. All initial temperatures mentioned in the following, as well as the temperatures of pairs of independently created gases in the double well have been determined using this method.

Information about the relative phase between the two 1D clouds can be obtained from absorption images along the longitudinal axis of the two gases in the *y*-direction, or transversally along the vertical *z*-axis.

In an intuitive picture, the interference pattern can be thought of as an array of many thin interference patterns stacked up together along the longitudinal direction of the cloud, where the phase of each thin interference pattern depends on the local *in situ* phase difference between the clouds. The axially integrated contrast C(L) of the interference is therefore a direct measure for the relative phase fluctuations within the integration length L [34–37]. In the following, we will discuss the technical implementation of the detection systems for the longitudinal and vertical directions in detail and show how we extract the integrated contrast C(L) for different integration lengths L.

3.2.1. Optical slicing method. In this scheme, the imaging beam propagates along the longitudinal axis of the 1D gases and directly performs an integration of the interference pattern along the length of the gases. In order to vary the integration length *L*, we perform the following slicing scheme using optical pumping (figure 5(a)). Shortly (1 ms) after the two halves of the split condensate are released from the trap, a shadow of width *L* is imaged on the atoms using a 50–125  $\mu$ s pulse of optical pumping light. The frequency and the polarization of the light are chosen such that the atoms, initially being in the 5S<sub>1/2</sub> F = 2,  $m_F = 2$  state, are excited to a state in the 5P<sub>3/2</sub> F = 1 manifold (figure 5(b)). From there, the atoms preferentially decay to a state in the 5S<sub>1/2</sub> F = 3 transition. Atoms that are in the protected shadow area of length *L* are not optically pumped and can be imaged after whichever chosen time of flight using an absorption imaging system operating along the axial direction of the system.

The branching ratios of the  $5S_{1/2}$   $F = 2 \rightarrow 5P_{3/2}$  F = 1 pumping transitions are such that, on average, only very few photons are needed for pumping. Already after one photon has been absorbed and remitted an atom has a probability above 80% of being in a dark state. This ensures that the atoms remain virtually undisturbed by the optical pumping process.

To create the sharp-edged shadow for the optical slice, we use a multi-lens high-resolution imaging objective in reverse. The imaging system has a maximum resolution of 2.5  $\mu$ m, and a demagnification of approximately 1:4.6. The shadow is produced by a glass target with a series

New Journal of Physics 15 (2013) 075011 (http://www.njp.org/)



**Figure 5.** (a) Illustration of the working principle of the optical slicing method. The atom clouds are released from their trap and allowed to fall under gravity. Shortly after release, the slicer beam containing a shadow of length L is projected onto the atom clouds to pump the unwanted edges into a state that is dark to the imaging beam light. Standard absorption imaging is then used at a much later time of flight to image the remaining undisturbed part of the cloud. (b) The relevant transitions of the D2 line of <sup>87</sup>Rb for optical pumping. Numbers indicate relative transition strengths using the normalization from [67]. (c) Images of the effect of slicing on a quasi-condensate as seen from the direction of the slicing beam. (d) Interference images and corresponding line profiles for different integration lengths L after an evolution time of 7 ms in the double-well potential.

of opaque bars (produced at the ZMNS TU-Wien). In order to be able to change the integration length L in each experiment, the bar target is mounted on a computer-controlled motorized translation stage.

The effect of the optical pumping light on the detected atomic density is presented in figures 5(c) and (d). Figure 5(c) shows examples of sliced atomic density distributions after optical pumping and a subsequent time of flight. The images were obtained using the same imaging system (x-direction) that is used in reverse for the optical pumping. Example interference images are shown in figure 5(d) for three integration lengths and a hold time of 7 ms in the double-well potential. Note that due to the evolution in the double-well potential, the contrast of the interference pattern which is integrated over the full cloud is already significantly reduced in most of the images. Furthermore, since for shorter L more and more atoms are cut away, the detected atom number becomes lower, giving a limit to the shortest integration length which can be investigated.





**Figure 6.** (a) Schematic view of the direct imaging method. (b) Exemplary image. As the incident beam is focused, only a very small area around the atoms is illuminated (like a spotlight), whereas the rest of the CCD image is filled with unimportant noise. This removes a second, out of focus image which would be created if the incident beam passed the atoms twice.

3.2.2. *Direct imaging method.* In the vertical direction, we can directly image the undulating structure of the interference pattern and freely select the integration length via post-processing. To this end an imaging system is employed which observes the atoms from below (figure 6).

The implementation of such an imaging system is challenging since the chip surface blocks the line of sight, hindering standard absorption imaging schemes. One possibility to circumvent this problem is to use a light sheet fluorescence detector as in [33, 68]. Here, we instead rely on absorption imaging, as it allows for a higher imaging resolution.

To this end, we reflect the imaging beam from the gold surface of the atom chip close to normal incidence. In this procedure the high quality of the gold layer is essential to achieve good images. For a collimated imaging beam the reflection means that the light passes the atom cloud twice [69]. This results in a second, virtual image behind the atom chip, which is out of focus and overlaps with the primary image. Since the imaging of the interference pattern requires the imaging beam to propagate almost parallel to the fringes, it is not possible to offset the two images by using a large angle of incidence when propagating the imaging beam onto the atom chip surface. In order to eliminate the second image we therefore focus the imaging beam close to the atoms, avoiding the first absorption process as shown in figure 6(a). This limits the field of view to the area of a 'spotlight' (figure 6(b)) and ensures that the light only interacts with the atoms once. Also, by aligning the slowly diverging beam onto the central  $100\,\mu\text{m}$  wire of the chip, interference effects caused by diffraction from the microscopic chip structures can be minimized. We note that a similar method was used in [70]. In figure 6(b)we show an experimentally obtained image, where the imaging system was set up for a time of flight of 16 ms. The image clearly reveals the full structure of the spatially varying interference pattern, which can then be used for further analysis.

#### 3.3. Extraction of the matter wave interference contrast

The main observable used in this work is the contrast C(L) of the matter wave interference pattern integrated over a length L (figure 1(c)). For the optical slicing, the integration length Lis selected in the imaging setup by choosing a specific mask, and the integration is performed optically. In the direct imaging method the recorded image of the interference pattern is integrated over the length L during post-processing. In both cases this results in a line profile (see figure 1). This line profile is fitted with a sinusoidal function  $f_L(x)$  having a Gaussian envelope

$$f_{\rm L}(x) = e^{-\frac{x^2}{2\omega^2}} \left[ 1 + C(L) \cos\left(\frac{2\pi x}{\Delta} + \theta_{\rm L}\right) \right],\tag{3}$$

where  $\omega$  is the cloud size,  $\Delta$  is the fringe spacing and  $\theta_L$  is the global phase of the interference pattern integrated over L, i.e. the phase of the line profile. As interactions do not play a significant role in the radial time-of-flight expansion for our parameters, the fringe spacing  $\Delta$  can be directly related to the double-well-potential separation  $d = ht/m\Delta$ , where t is the time of flight, m is the mass of the atoms and h is Planck's constant [71]. Thus, the stability of the double-well splitting can be monitored with interferometric precision. The contrast C(L)is extracted from this fit and used for further analysis that is presented in the remainder of this paper. Repeated realizations of the experimental cycle then allow us to build the time-dependent FDFs of the interference contrast C(L).

#### 3.4. Comparison of the two imaging methods

The use of two technically different imaging systems allows us to preclude systematic effects of the imaging system on the observed contrast evolution.

Example FDFs obtained for different integration lengths L from both imaging systems are shown in figure 7. The total area under the curves is normalized to 1 in order to represent a probability density. The upper panel shows FDFs of the squared contrast  $C^2$ . While the overall form of the FDFs shows qualitative agreement, a small offset between the results of the two imaging systems remains. This is because the absolute value of  $C^2$  is affected by the finite imaging resolution and any mis-alignment of the imaging system. These effects can be eliminated by analyzing contrast distributions that are normalized to the mean contrast  $\langle C^2 \rangle$ . After this procedure the offset vanishes, as shown in the lower panel of figure 7.

This comparison confirms that the form of the  $C^2/\langle C^2 \rangle$  distributions is not influenced by any technical effects of the imaging systems and can therefore be used to study the dynamics of the system. Note that the normalization to the mean contrast also removes further systematic errors affecting both imaging systems, such as, for example, imperfections in the switch-off of the trapping fields.

In the following, the only and important practical difference between the two methods is thus that the total measurement time with the direct imaging is significantly shorter than the time needed to obtain the data with the optical slicing method. This is a consequence of the fact that with the direct imaging method only one experimental run is necessary to extract information on all length scales down to the imaging resolution. Systematic studies of large parameter spaces or long evolution times, as presented in section 5, are thus always performed with the direct imaging system.



**Figure 7.** Comparison of distributions of the squared contrast obtained with the optical slicing method and the direct imaging system for the same double-well configuration. The evolution time is 10 ms and each distribution contains 300 realizations, which minimizes statistical effects. In the upper row we plot exemplary distributions of the squared contrast, in the lower row the squared contrast is normalized to its mean. While the former shows slight differences for the results of both imaging systems, the latter shows very good agreement (see text for details).

# 4. Observation of prethermalization

# *4.1. Dynamics of the full quantum mechanical probability distribution functions of matter wave interference contrast*

Figure 8(a) shows the measured time dependence of the FDFs of interference contrast C(L) for the double-well system which was initialized through a coherent splitting process, as described in the previous section. The data were obtained using the optical slicing detection scheme. The central line density is  $\rho = (32 \pm 7)$  atoms  $\mu m^{-1}$  (error given by standard deviation) in each well at an initial temperature of the unsplit cloud of  $T = (120 \pm 30)$  nK. For the initial gas before the splitting, this results in a chemical potential of  $\mu \sim (2/3)\hbar\omega_r$  and an energy  $k_{\rm B}T \sim \hbar\omega_r$  due to temperature. These parameters are similar to the parameters of other experiments with 1D gases in microtraps, e.g. [72, 73], and give an effectively 1D Bose gas in the quasi-condensate regime.



**Figure 8.** (a) Histograms for the distributions of  $C^2/\langle C^2 \rangle$  for evolution times from 2 to 27 ms after splitting, shown together with the respective best fitting equilibrium distributions, which are  $T_{\text{eff}} \equiv T_{\text{best fit}} = (14 \pm 4)$ ,  $(17 \pm 5)$ ,  $(14 \pm 4)$  nK for  $t_e = 12$ , 17, 27 ms, respectively. For comparison, the calculated *equilibrium* distributions for T = 120 nK (blue dashed line) and 30 nK

**Figure 8.** (Continued) (green dot-dash line) are added. (b) The evolution of the best fit's value for the reduced  $\chi^2$  with hold time. The probabilities of observing values of the reduced  $\chi^2$  which are larger than those calculated from the best fits of the measurements are 50, 62, 18% for the last three evolution times of  $t_e = 12$ , 17, 27 ms, respectively.

After the splitting, a slight net mean imbalance  $\Delta n = (N_{\rm L} - N_{\rm R})/(N_{\rm L} + N_{\rm R})$  of  $\Delta n = (1.5 \pm 1)\%$  is present. Here,  $N_{\rm L}$  and  $N_{\rm R}$  are the atom numbers of the left and right well, respectively. Owing to technical noise, the width of this imbalance distribution is around two to three times larger than the quantum shot noise limit of  $\sqrt{N}$ , where  $N = N_{\rm L} + N_{\rm R}$  is the total atom number of the system. The imbalance has mainly two effects. The net difference in chemical potential resulting from the mean imbalance leads to a trivial common phase evolution of the two wells [37, 74, 75]. In addition to this, the width of the imbalance distribution leads to an additional broadening of the global phase distribution. It is a strength of our approach that this technical noise does not affect the dynamics of the contrast distributions, as its effect on the dynamics is negligible compared to the quantum noise associated with the splitting process for the probed integration lengths *L*.

For the shortest evolution time  $t_e = 2 \text{ ms}$ , the  $C^2/\langle C^2 \rangle$  distributions are peaked on all lengths L, being almost all identical in form and having a low probability of obtaining a low contrast C(L). As time evolves, the distributions behave very differently on different length scales. For long integration lengths L, the FDFs evolve to become exponential in form, i.e. there is a high probability of observing a low contrast C(L) and the initial correlations of the system appear to be lost. For short integration lengths, however, the FDFs remain peaked and there is a very low probability of observing a low contrast C(L). This directly demonstrates the persisting memory in the system of the initial state. Furthermore, the strong length dependence is a direct signature of the multimode nature of 1D Bose gases [40, 76]. Finally, the shape of the distributions evolves very quickly for the first 12 ms and very little between  $t_e = 12-27 \text{ ms}$ , showing that the system reaches a quasi-steady state. This imposes the question of whether this state corresponds to the thermal equilibrium state of the system.

#### 4.2. Emergence of an effective temperature

We will now address the question of whether the observed quasi-steady state already corresponds to the thermal equilibrium state of the system.

If the system has reached thermal equilibrium, the measured distributions plotted in figure 8(a) should be consistent with equilibrium theory [35, 41, 56]. The obtained *non-equilibrium* distributions of  $C^2/\langle C^2 \rangle$  were therefore fitted with *equilibrium* distributions taking temperature as a free fit parameter. To this end, a  $\chi^2$  analysis [77] was performed. Figure 8(a) shows the experimentally obtained distributions together with the respective best fitting equilibrium curves. The agreement is very good for longer evolution times, but less good for early evolution times.

Figure 8(b) shows the corresponding reduced  $\chi^2$  values of the fits. For short evolution times the reduced  $\chi^2$  differ significantly from 1, showing that the experimentally obtained distributions are inconsistent with equilibrium theory. For evolution times longer than 12 ms, the observed value of the reduced  $\chi^2$  approaches 1, which shows that the experimental data agree



**Figure 9.** Experimental (histograms) and theoretical (red solid lines) *equilibrium* distributions. (a)  $T = (60 \pm 20)$  nK, density of  $(32 \pm 6)$  atoms  $\mu$ m<sup>-1</sup>. Each plot contains the statistics of ~170 measurements. Figure adapted from [8]. (b)  $T = (27 \pm 7)$  nK, a density of  $(27 \pm 5)$  atoms  $\mu$ m<sup>-1</sup>, statistics of ~ 90 measurements. Both datasets show very good agreement with the theoretical description.

well with equilibrium theory. This indicates that the thermal-like nature of the distributions is established dynamically during the evolution.

It is thus possible to associate the observed steady state with a temperature  $T_{\text{eff}}$  extracted from equilibrium theory. For the last three evolution times  $t_e = 12$ , 17, 27 ms the fits give  $T_{\text{eff}} = (14 \pm 4), (17 \pm 5), (14 \pm 4)$  nK, respectively. This is, however, a factor of *eight* lower than the initial temperature of the unsplit system. Furthermore, the corresponding effective thermal phase coherence length of the relative phase between the two gases is  $\lambda_{\phi} = \hbar^2 \rho / m k_B T_{\text{eff}} = 13^{+5}_{-3}, 10^{+5}_{-2}, 13^{+5}_{-3} \,\mu\text{m}$ . This is much longer than the expected  $\lambda_T = (1.5 \pm 0.6) \,\mu\text{m}$  deduced from the initial temperature of the unsplit cloud. For a detailed study of the emergence and properties of this length scale see [76].

As a further illustration of the striking difference between the observed FDFs and the ones expected for the corresponding equilibrium system, we performed interference experiments with two independently created 1D gases, employing the same double-well potential as for the non-equilibrium situation. The measured equilibrium distributions are plotted in figure 9. Even for  $T = (60 \pm 20)$  nK the measured  $C^2/\langle C^2 \rangle$  distributions are exponential in form for all length scales probed, which is in stark contrast to the observed non-equilibrium steady-state distributions but in perfect agreement with what is expected from equilibrium theory. A second, colder dataset at  $T = (27 \pm 7)$  nK visualizes the crossover from an exponential to a Gumbel-like shape of the equilibrium distributions [32, 56].

It is, however, a justified question as to whether the very low observed  $T_{\text{eff}}$  of the quasisteady state could also be explained by a cooling effect involved in the splitting process or, stated differently, how does the initial temperature of the unsplit cloud relate to the final temperature of the gas after splitting and after a possible equilibration? In principle, the rapid splitting procedure is a rather violent process which is very likely to transfer some energy to the system. This would suggest that the final equilibrium temperature should be even higher than the initial temperature of the unsplit system, in contrast to the steady state that we observe.

On the other hand, the splitting process leads to a decompression of the gas, which, for a 3D ideal gas would lead to a temperature reduction. If we assume an adiabatic splitting a comparison of the trap frequencies leads to a lower bound on the decompressed temperature of  $(0.6 \pm 0.1) \times T$  [78]. This temperature reduction has been confirmed by preparing a thermal 3D cloud of atoms in the initial single-well trap and turning on the double-well potential using the same 17 ms ramp as in the non-equilibrium measurements. For this procedure, we observe a decrease in temperature of  $(0.59 \pm 0.15) \times T$  in agreement with decompression.

To our knowledge, no quantitative descriptions of this process exist for degenerate 1D gases. The exact evolution and distribution of the thermal energy during the splitting therefore remains a topic of ongoing research. The only quantities one can compare to are the initial temperature  $T = (120 \pm 30)$  nK of the unsplit system and the lower bound of  $T \sim (70 \pm 20)$  nK calculated under the assumption of an adiabatic decompression. Figure 8 therefore also shows the obtained values for the reduced  $\chi^2$  if the experimentally obtained non-equilibrium distributions are fitted with equilibrium theory for T = 120 nK. The plot shows that these high temperatures are clearly rejected by the  $\chi^2$  test. In addition, in figure 8, the corresponding equilibrium distributions for T = 30 nK (green line) are plotted for comparison. This shows that even for T = 30 nK, which is much lower than the lower temperature bound obtained from decompression, the equilibrium distributions are still significantly different from what is observed in the experiment for the non-equilibrium system.

These observations directly demonstrate that the quasi-steady state we observe has thermallike properties, but is not the true thermal equilibrium of the system. We thus associate this quasi-steady state with prethermalization, as introduced in [7] and suggested for split 1D Bose gases in [24]. The system decays rapidly to a state whose contrast distributions are thermal like in form, exhibiting a temperature almost an order of magnitude lower than the temperature of the initial unsplit system. As we will see in section 6, the relaxation of the system to this prethermalized state is very well described by a dephasing of the momentum modes of the system [23, 34, 76]. We will first briefly discuss the persistence of this prethermalized state as the system continues to evolve.

#### 5. Long-term evolution of the system

As shown in section 4, the non-equilibrium system decays rapidly to a prethermalized state. However, the question still remains as to any subsequent evolution of the system, particularly whether the system will eventually reach the true thermal equilibrium corresponding to two independent gases.

In the measurements presented in the following, the initial temperature of the unsplit system was  $(78 \pm 10)$  nK and the peak atomic line density of the split system was  $(38 \pm 9)$  atoms  $\mu$ m<sup>-1</sup> in each of the two wells, i.e. approximately similar parameters to those presented in section 4 above. Furthermore, the final amplitude of the current for the dressing RF creating the double well was increased to 23.8 mA leading to a higher potential barrier, larger separation of the double well and therefore placing an even lower upper bound on any hypothetical residual tunnel coupling. To ensure that the actual splitting process was also the same, the same linear ramp speed as in the measurements in section 4 was used, but the total ramp duration was extended to 18 ms.

Figures 10 and 11 summarize the main results of the measurements. Figure 10(a) shows the evolution up to a time of almost 200 ms of the mean squared contrast  $\langle C^2 \rangle$  for the full length of the system. The fast initial decay to the prethermalized state, followed by a very slow further evolution, is clearly visible. As an inset, example interference pictures obtained using



**Figure 10.** (a) Time dependence of the mean squared contrast  $\langle C^2 \rangle$  [8, 76] together with example pictures obtained using the direct imaging system. (b) FDFs of  $C^2/\langle C^2 \rangle$  extending to longer evolution times. Again, the experimentally obtained data (histograms) can be very well described by equilibrium theory where the distributions obtained at the best-fitting temperature are plotted using red solid lines. The blue dashed lines show theoretical equilibrium distributions for the initial temperature  $T = 78 \pm 10$  nK of the unsplit cloud. Figure adapted from Gring *et al* [8].



**Figure 11.** (a) Evolution of the reduced  $\chi^2$  with hold time in the double-well potential. (b) Evolution of  $T_{\text{eff}}$  for the whole dataset extracted using fits to theoretical equilibrium distributions (figure from Gring *et al* [8]). The dashed linear fit indicates an increase of  $T_{\text{eff}}$  over time of  $(0.14 \pm 0.04) \,\text{nK} \,\text{ms}^{-1}$ . The colored area indicates the measured heating rate of the atom trap of  $0.11 \pm 0.06 \,\text{nK} \,\text{ms}^{-1}$ , with the area being bounded by the error. Figure adapted from Gring *et al* [8].

the direct imaging system are shown. For very short evolution times the fringes are almost straight, directly visualizing the coherence of the splitting process. For larger evolution times the fringes become more and more wiggly, leading to the observed strong decrease in the integrated interference contrast. Again, for evolution times after the initial decay, the distributions of  $C^2/\langle C^2 \rangle$  can be described by equilibrium theory, as shown for example in figure 10(b) for various evolution times  $t_e = 12-182$  ms.

Figure 11(a) displays the minimal reduced  $\chi^2$  values for the inspected evolution times which shows that for evolution times after the initial rapid decay, the reduced  $\chi^2$  is similar to 1. The extracted effective temperatures are again very low compared to the initial temperature of the system, while higher temperatures clearly fail to describe the measured distributions, as demonstrated by the  $\chi^2$  analysis for larger temperatures in figure 11(a).

Observing the long slow decay of  $\langle C^2 \rangle$  seen in figure 11(a) one may be tempted to assume that this is the system slowly thermalizing. In order to analyze this slow subsequent evolution of the quasi-steady state, the effective temperatures for all times after the initial decay were extracted, as shown in figure 11(b). As can be seen,  $T_{\rm eff}$  rises slowly over time at a rate of  $(0.14 \pm 0.04)$  nK ms<sup>-1</sup>. This is, however, comparable with the measured heating rate of the atom trap of  $(0.11 \pm 0.06)$  nK ms<sup>-1</sup> which was characterized independently using equilibrium quasicondensates. This indicates that either no thermalization is present, or, if it is present, that it is a very subtle process.

#### 6. Luttinger liquid description of the dephasing of the system

In the previous sections it was shown that the system created through the coherent splitting of a single quasi-condensate rapidly relaxes to a quasi-steady state that has thermal characteristics but which does not correspond to the true thermal equilibrium state of the system.

# IOP Institute of Physics DEUTSCHE PHYSIKALISCHE GESELLSCHAFT



**Figure 12.** Illustration of the filter behavior of the choice of integration length during detection. If only one k-mode was populated this would lead to the sinusoidal varying pattern displayed in the figures. Large k-modes as shown on the left side affect the phase within the integration length in a uniform fashion almost not affecting the contrast. On the other hand, high k-modes as shown on the right produce a strong variation of the phase within L, strongly diminishing the contrast.

This observation can be very well understood by the theoretical model presented in [23, 24] where the appearance of a thermal-like state is explained through the dephasing of the multimode system. Before presenting a quantitative comparison of this model to our experiment, we summarize the most important points of this theory in order to give an intuitive picture for an understanding of the prethermalized state. For a more detailed discussion the reader is referred to the original work [23, 24]. For an alternative description of the rapidly split quasi-condensate in terms of an effective-tunneling model, see [79].

# 6.1. Summary of the theoretical model

The evolution of the interference pattern is directly determined by the evolution of the relative phase between the two uncoupled halves of the split gas. We describe this evolution using a Tomonaga–Luttinger liquid approach. In this low-energy approximation, the relative degrees of freedom  $\hat{\phi}(y)$  and  $\hat{n}(y)$  perfectly decouple from the common degrees of freedom of the system  $\hat{\phi}_{com}(y)$  and  $\hat{n}_{com}(y)$ , where the experimental observables are now described by operators. The resulting Hamiltonian for the relative degrees of freedom is of the form  $\hat{H} = \frac{\hbar c}{2} \int_{-L/2}^{L/2} dy [\frac{K}{\pi} (\nabla \hat{\phi}(y))^2 + \frac{\pi}{K} \hat{n}^2(y)]$ , where  $K = \pi \xi_h \rho$  is the Luttinger parameter, *c* is the speed of sound,  $\xi_h$  is the healing length and  $\rho$  is the atomic density.

The evolution of  $\hat{\phi}(y)$  can be described in Fourier space by a set of decoupled harmonic oscillators of collective modes with momentum k. A collective mode with momentum k modulates the relative density and relative phase  $\hat{\phi}(y)$  along the condensate in a sinusoidal fashion on a length scale of  $\sim 1/k$ . This is visualized in figure 12.

In the experiment, the splitting is performed fast in comparison to the time scale for the spread of perturbation which is set by the inverse chemical potential  $t_{\text{split}} < \xi_{\text{h}}/c = 1/\mu$ . Thus, there is no time for the atoms to develop correlations along the longitudinal trap axis such that the relative density fluctuations  $\langle \hat{n}^2 \rangle_{t_e=0} = \rho/2$  are completely random and not affected by atomic interactions. In particular, there is no correlation between modes with different momenta. Also, for each atom the decision of going to either half of the split system is random and uncorrelated with other atoms, leading to a binomial distribution of atom number

fluctuations in each small segment of the 1D system. The respective width of the relative phase distribution follows from the Heisenberg uncertainty relation. Initially, at  $t_e = 0$ , the relative phase fluctuations are governed completely by the atomic shot noise and are practically negligible at length scales  $> \xi_h$ . In other words,  $\langle \hat{\phi}^2 \rangle_{t_e=0} \sim 0$  and its fluctuations are strongly suppressed. In contrast, initial density fluctuations exhibit for  $|k| \leq \xi_h^{-1}$  a large excess of noise compared to the zero-temperature state of two split quasi-condensates. In the latter stationary case, the relative density fluctuations are suppressed by atomic repulsion. As a result, almost all the energy is initially distributed in the density fluctuations, with each collective mode k containing equal energy but different populations that scale as 1/|k| as the energy per quanta in each mode is  $\propto c|k|$ . In particular, this leads to the weaker effects of modes with higher momenta on the evolution of the system.

During the dynamics of the system the energy of each harmonic oscillator mode k oscillates between the fluctuations in density and fluctuations in phase, driven by interactions between the atoms. This results in a harmonic time dependence of the fluctuation amplitude with a period  $\propto 1/c|k|$ . For short evolution times, all phase fluctuation amplitudes grow in magnitude, which leads to a scrambling of the relative phase  $\hat{\phi}(y)$  along the axial direction. This results in an initial rapid decrease in the interference contrast C(L). For longer times, the oscillations in different k-modes dephase and the system reaches a quasi-steady state which is thermal in its appearance. In particular, correlation functions take a form that is algebraically equivalent to their respective counterparts in equilibrium. The effective temperature of the quasi-steady state corresponds to the energy that was equally introduced to all k-modes by the splitting process. In analogy to the equipartition theorem [80] one can deduce that the quasi-steady state can be described by an effective temperature  $T_{\text{eff}}$  given by [24]

$$k_{\rm B}T_{\rm eff} = \frac{\mu}{2} = \frac{g\rho}{2},\tag{4}$$

where  $\mu$  is the chemical potential, g is the 1D interaction strength and  $k_{\rm B}$  is Boltzmann's constant. As shown in [24] the detailed form of the FDFs of C(L) and  $C^2(L)$  can then be obtained by sampling the amplitude of the fluctuations of the phase with Gaussian statistics. The choice of a particular integration length L during the detection process represents a filter for the effects of different k-modes (figure 12). For an integration length L, modes with wavelengths  $2\pi/k < L$  produce strong fluctuations of  $\hat{\phi}(y)$  within L, while modes with wavelengths  $2\pi/k > L$  uniformly affect  $\hat{\phi}(y)$  in L and just change the overall phase of the interference pattern. This means that the contrast C of the integrated interference pattern is governed by the dynamics of modes with wavelength  $2\pi/k < L$ .

The higher the population of a particular k-mode, the greater the mean amplitude of its phase fluctuation. For *long* integration lengths L, there are many significantly populated modes with  $k > 2\pi/L$  which affect the integrated interference contrast C. With increasing evolution time  $t_e$ , the dynamics of these large amplitude modes leads to a strong decrease in the probability of observing a high contrast C and the FDF of the contrast takes the form of an exponential decay. This is the contrast decay regime. For *short* integration lengths L, the contrast C is influenced only by sparsely populated modes with high momenta so the FDF of the contrast preserves a non-zero peak for the whole evolution time. This is the phase diffusion regime. These two regimes have been experimentally studied in detail in [76]. The observation of these two regimes is a direct and intuitive visualization of the multimode nature of 1D Bose gases [40, 76].

# IOP Institute of Physics DEUTSCHE PHYSIKALISCHE GESELLSCHAFT

Note that the above discussion is only valid in the case of a perfect symmetric splitting. As discussed in detail in [24], a density imbalance between the left and right wells leads to a coupling between the relative and common degrees of freedom. In this case, the initial temperature of the unsplit cloud, which defines the initial state of the common degrees of freedom, influences the dynamics of the relative degrees of freedom and hence the dynamics of the interference pattern. However, the treatment in terms of collective excitations of the system remains valid along with the distinction between phase diffusion and contrast decay dynamics depending on the integration length L. The decay of the contrast then happens in two steps. Firstly, there is an initial rapid decay analogous to the symmetric splitting case. Secondly, the quasi-steady state which is reached, very slowly evolves in time due to the coupling between relative and common modes [24]. This is, however, not expected to lead to true thermalization as the system remains integrable and the modes will not fully equilibrate.

#### 6.2. Quantitative comparison between experiment and theory

A quantitative comparison between experiment and the Tomonaga–Luttinger liquid model is presented in figure 13. We find good agreement of the theoretical description with the experimental data without any free fitting parameter.

Considering that the theory neglects the effect of the longitudinal trapping potential and contains no fit parameter, only the experimentally measured input parameters, the agreement of experiment and theory is very good. For the first two evolution times the description is, however, less accurate for two reasons. Firstly, the extraction of the contrast is very sensitive for the early evolution times, leading to a broadening of the experimental distributions by fitting uncertainties. Secondly, the disagreements also indicate that the initial preparation of the system through coherently splitting a single cloud is not fast enough to be instantaneous and perfectly uniform as assumed in theory.

By preparing 1D Bose gases with a wide range of different parameters, we can further systematically check the predictions of our theoretical model. Figure 14 shows the predicted scaling (equation (4)) of the effective temperature with density, as well as the independence of  $T_{\text{eff}}$  from the initial temperature before splitting.

These two observations provide further strong support for our theoretical model and the interpretation of the observations presented in this work as prethermalization. In particular, the observation that the properties of the quasi-steady state are independent of the initial temperature of the unsplit system is another indicator that the observed state is clearly different from the thermal equilibrium state. The observed linear scaling of  $T_{\rm eff}$  with density  $\rho$  further shows that the prethermalized state is solely defined by the quantum noise associated with the splitting process. The apparent small systematic offset of the experimentally obtained  $T_{\rm eff}$  and the theoretical description visible in figure 14(a) can be attributed to imperfections in the experimental splitting process.

Returning to the discussion of the theory in section 6.1, one sees that the relative degrees of freedom  $\phi$  and *n* do indeed decouple from the common degrees of freedom  $\phi_{com}$  and  $n_{com}$ , at least on the time scales on which we observe the system. This is particularly interesting, since there is no *a priori* reason to assume that the different degrees of freedom should not couple and equilibrate in our system.



**Figure 13.** Comparison of distributions of the normalized squared contrast  $C^2/\langle C^2 \rangle$  obtained in section 4 to the theoretical description of the rapidly split quasi-condensate presented in the previous section 6.1. The experimental data are plotted using histograms and the theoretical simulations solid red lines. The light red shaded areas denote the errors resulting from the uncertainty of the experimentally measured theory input parameters. These input parameters were the experimentally measured values of density in a single well  $\rho = (32 \pm 4)$  atoms  $\mu m^{-1}$ , trap frequency  $\omega_{\perp} = (1.4 \pm 0.1)$  kHz, imbalance  $\Delta n$  given in per cent as  $(0.1 \pm 0.7)\%$ , temperature of the unsplit system of  $T = (78 \pm 10)$  nK and the uncertainty of  $\pm 0.5$  ms for the point in time of  $t_e = 0$ .

# 7. Dephasing, not thermalization

In an earlier experiment by Hofferberth *et al* [38], the dynamics of a coherently split 1D Bose gas was analyzed through the decay of the coherence factor  $\Psi(t) = \langle \operatorname{Re} \int e^{i\hat{\phi}_s(z,t)} dz \rangle$ . The coherence factor was first introduced in [34] and is closely related to the mean contrast. Note that while the observable C(L) is more easily extracted from experiments, it is more



**Figure 14.** (a) Dependence of  $T_{\text{eff}}$  on density  $\rho$  and (b) independence of  $T_{\text{eff}}$  from the initial temperature T of the system before splitting, corrected for the scaling of  $T_{\text{eff}}$  with density. The (black) solid line corresponds to the theoretical prediction  $k_{\text{B}}T_{\text{eff}} = g\rho/2$ . The black (green) data points correspond to the dataset presented in section 4 (5), respectively. Figure taken from Gring *et al* [8].

complicated to calculate theoretically. A characteristic sub-exponential decay of the coherence factor  $\Psi(t) \propto \exp[-(t/t_0)^{\alpha}]$  (with  $\alpha \sim 2/3$ ) was observed, as predicted by Burkov *et al* [81] for the thermalization of such a system, where  $t_0$  is the characteristic time scale for the thermalization. This observation was interpreted as evidence for thermalization.

The basic physical system investigated in [38] was very similar to that in the new experimental setup presented in this paper. However, at the time of [38], neither the experimental methods nor the theoretical understanding were sufficiently developed to make a full analysis and characterization of the many-body state to which the system decayed. As demonstrated in this work, this characterization was now possible through the new, more complete theoretical description of the non-equilibrium processes [23, 24] and the ability to experimentally measure the FDFs which enabled us to characterize the state to which our system decays. We would like to revisit here this old work [38] in the light of our new results.

In the work of Hofferberth *et al* [38], the coherent splitting was done in the vertical direction, along the direction of gravity. This allowed the direct observation of the phase fluctuations along the length of the system (as with the direct imaging system in this work, but without having to deal with the problem of the chip surface being in the line-of-sight of the imaging beam). However, in general, this simplified imaging scenario comes at the price that a vertical splitting process is not very well controlled and non-symmetric due to the interplay between the pull of gravity and the 1/r dependence of the amplitude of the RF radiation emitted from the atom chip wires. As an illustration, a 1  $\mu$ m height difference corresponds to a change in potential energy of more than 2 kHz, which is more than the chemical potentials in the 1D gases. This gravitational sag can be partially compensated by adjusting the polarization of the RF fields, by changing the distance of the trap to the chip surface and by taking advantage of the 1/r dependence of the trapping and RF fields used to generate the double-well potential [82]. However, this constrains the double-well splittings that can be implemented. Furthermore, the compensation is never perfect and variations of the potential depth during the splitting process remain that are on the order of the chemical potential of the 1D gases.

As a consequence, significant shot-to-shot variations in the atom number difference between the two wells were observed in the previous work [38]. These overall atom number fluctuations led to an additional phase evolution  $\Delta \phi(t) = \frac{t}{\hbar} \Delta \mu$ , where  $\Delta \mu$  is the difference in chemical potential between the two wells in each experimental run [37, 74, 75]. Consequently, in [38], these common fluctuations were rejected by evaluating the coherence factor through  $\Psi(t) = \langle \operatorname{Re} \int e^{i(\phi(y,t) - \Delta\phi(t))} dy \rangle = \langle | \int e^{i\phi(y,t)} dy | \rangle$ . Here  $\Delta\phi(t)$  was determined for each individual interference pattern via  $\Delta\phi(t) = \arg(\int dy e^{i\phi(y,t)})$ , which for an infinitely long system makes the expression for the coherence factor equivalent to the original formulation of Burkov *et al* [81]. This way of analyzing the coherence factor, however, also rejected the contribution to the dynamics coming from the k = 0 mode (i.e. the phase evolution which, in a semi-classical picture, can be interpreted as being induced by the quantum shot noise of the difference between the *total* number of particles in each well). For a finite size system, this k = 0 contribution to the phase evolution is suppressed only by  $1/\sqrt{N}$  where N is the total number of particles in both wells [34].

In addition, in [38], a strong longitudinal breathing mode was observed after the splitting which limited measurements to the first 11 ms of the evolution. As discussed in section 3 we split horizontally, perpendicular to the direction of gravity in the new experimental setup presented here. In this way, the symmetry during the splitting process is easily conserved, which makes the initial non-equilibrium state much better defined and the final evolution more repeatable. The atom chip in the new setup is designed in such a way that the longitudinal confinement can be varied independently of the radial confinement. This makes it possible to choose combinations that allow the splitting of a single trap into a double well with a minimized excitation of longitudinal breathing modes. This made the probing of long evolution times possible.

Furthermore, in the new experimental setup, in comparison to [38], we split much further away from the atom chip surface, facilitating a double-well separation that is much greater for a given barrier height than in the experimental setup detailed in [38]. Simulations suggest that this leads to a ten times faster break down of the tunnel coupling between the wells during the splitting process because, due to the larger separation, the overlap of the wavefunctions is much smaller once the classical connection between the wells breaks down. Hence, the requirement of fast symmetric splitting to reach the initial state which allows the observation of prethermalization (discussed in [23, 24]) is better met in this work.

Any comparison to current theoretical models of the fast initial evolution requires a clear starting point of the evolution as the exact value of the characteristic exponent  $\alpha$  is very sensitive to the position of  $t_e = 0$ . By analyzing the new data and from novel insight from recent experiments on tunnel-coupled systems [33], it became clear that it is very difficult to determine the exact point in time when the two clouds separate during the splitting, the dynamics of the different momentum modes during the final moments of the splitting, and when an independent evolution starts. In the present evaluation, we used similar criteria as in [38] to set the starting time of the evolution (simulated plasma frequency  $\gg 10 \,\mathrm{ms}$  and an observable phase drift). We find that the starting point of the evolution is very difficult to define to better than  $\pm 0.5$  ms, given our current experimental precision and theoretical understanding. This is not a problem for observing and analyzing the FDFs and the long-term behavior, but it prevents us from reliably evaluating  $\alpha$  from our data. However, for completeness, taking the first 9 ms of the evolution presented in section 5 and analyzing the coherence factor in the same manner as it was performed in [38], we extract a value for  $\alpha$  that is compatible with the previous result. Yet, studying the system for different initial temperatures, we observe an independence of the characteristic relaxation time  $t_0$  from temperature, in stark contrast to the prediction of Burkov *et al* [81]. For an ideal, sudden splitting, our model predicts an exponential decay with  $\alpha = 1$  [24, 34]. In the experiment, the time for the splitting is finite. Thus, to settle the very interesting question of how the observed dynamics starts and to study its details will require

extensive additional theoretical work on the dynamics of the splitting process itself, as well as advanced experimental techniques [83].

In view of the present experiment and the theoretical analyses, the interpretation of Hofferberth *et al* [38] should therefore be revised as showing the fast integrable dephasing of the 1D systems, and not thermalization, as was suggested in [38] by the comparison to Burkov *et al* [81]. This revised view is in line with the observation of the absence of thermalization in 1D gases in optical lattices [6]. We point out that for the present experiment, even independent of our theoretical model, the observed clear difference between the FDFs of normalized squared contrast obtained for an equilibrium system formed by cooling in the double well (figure 9) and the FDFs observed after dynamic splitting (figure 8) provides direct experimental evidence that no thermalization is observed in our experiment.

# 8. Conclusion

We have detailed the experimental observation of the non-equilibrium many-body phenomenon of prethermalization. This was accomplished by observing the evolution of a rapidly and coherently split 1D Bose gas. Through the use of FDFs of the contrast of matter wave interference patterns, the quasi-steady state to which the system decays was found not to be a thermal equilibrium state. Using the theory developed for equilibrium systems, we were able to show that the FDFs of the interference contrast in the quasi-steady state are thermal-like in form, but display an effective temperature that is independent of the initial temperature of the gas before the splitting process. The early-time evolution of our system is well described by a Tomonaga–Luttinger liquid model that describes the dephasing of the system to the prethermalized state. This evolution can be visualized by means of FDFs and then contrasted to the true thermalization expected at long times. Moreover, these results clearly illustrate the power of this new method of probing the dynamics of quantum many-body systems through FDFs. Beyond the present work, FDFs are a very general and widely applicable method that can be extended to other quantum many-body systems [84].

The nature of the true thermalization that manifests itself as a slow evolution toward a steady state after the initial rapid decay to the prethermalized state still remains an open question. A possibility would be the integrability violation through virtual [85–87] or even real [85] excitations of the radial degrees of freedom.

In fact, the question of thermalization in our system is closely connected to the question of how two quantum mechanically correlated but spatially separated objects can lose their memory of that initial correlation, i.e. how do classical properties emerge from a closed quantum system? To answer these questions of thermalization and the emergence of classicality is an ongoing experimental [88] and theoretical endeavor.

#### Acknowledgments

We acknowledge fruitful discussions with Ehud Altman, Jürgen Berges, Thomas Gasenzer and Anatoli Polkovnikov. Our work was supported by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) through the Wittgenstein Prize and the EU through the integrating project AQUTE. MK, TL and MG thank the FWF Doctoral Programme CoQuS (*W1210*), RG is supported by the FWF through the Lise Meitner Programme M 1423, IEM acknowledges financial support from the FWF

(project no. P22590-N16). DAS acknowledges the EU (grant no. 220586). TK and ED thank DARPA, Harvard-MIT CUA, NSF (grant no. DMR-07-05472) and ARO-MURI on Atomtronics.

#### References

- Polkovnikov A, Sengupta K, Silva A and Vengalattore M 2011 Colloquium: nonequilibrium dynamics of closed interacting quantum systems *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 83 863–83
- [2] Lamacraft A and Moore J 2011 Potential insights into non-equilibrium behavior from atomic physics Contemporary Concepts of Condensed Matter Science ed A Fetter, K Levin and D Stamper-Kurn (Amsterdam: Elsevier) pp 177–201
- [3] Deutsch J 1991 Quantum statistical mechanics in a closed system Phys. Rev. A 43 2046–9
- [4] Srednicki M 1994 Chaos and quantum thermalization *Phys. Rev.* E **50** 888–901
- [5] Rigol M, Dunjko V and Olshanii M 2008 Thermalization and its mechanism for generic isolated quantum systems *Nature* 452 854–8
- [6] Kinoshita T, Wenger T and Weiss D S 2006 A quantum Newton's cradle Nature 440 900-3
- [7] Berges J, Borsányi Sz and Wetterich C 2004 Prethermalization Phys. Rev. Lett. 93 142002
- [8] Gring M, Kuhnert M, Langen T, Kitagawa T, Rauer B, Schreitl M, Mazets I, Adu Smith D, Demler E and Schmiedmayer J 2012 Relaxation and prethermalization in an isolated quantum system *Science* 337 1318–22
- [9] Braun-Munzinger P, Magestro D, Redlich K and Stachel J 2001 Hadron production in Au–Au collisions at RHIC *Phys. Lett.* B 518 41–6
- [10] Rafelski J and Letessier J 2002 Non-equilibrium hadrochemistry in QGP hadronization AIP Conf. Proc. 631 460–89
- [11] Rapp R 2004 Theory highlights of quark matter 2004 J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. 30 S951-61
- [12] Heinz U and Kolb P 2002 Early thermalization at RHIC Nucl. Phys. A 702 269-80
- [13] Ryblewski R 2011 Transverse hydrodynamics and the early-thermalization problem at RHIC J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 270 012024
- [14] Heinz U W and Kolb P F 2002 Two RHIC puzzles: early thermalization and the HBT problem *Proc.* 18th Winter Workshop on Nuclear Dynamics ed R Bellwied, J Harris and W Bauer (Debrecen, Hungary: EP Systema) pp 205–16
- [15] Destri C and de Vega H 2006 Ultraviolet cascade in the thermalization of the classical phi 4 theory in 3+1 dimensions *Phys. Rev.* D 73 025014
- [16] Podolsky D, Felder G, Kofman L and Peloso M 2006 Equation of state and beginning of thermalization after preheating *Phys. Rev.* D 73 023501
- [17] Kollath C, Läuchli A M and Altman E 2007 Quench dynamics and nonequilibrium phase diagram of the Bose–Hubbard model *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 98 180601
- [18] Eckstein M, Kollar M and Werner P 2009 Thermalization after an interaction quench in the Hubbard model Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 056403
- [19] Moeckel M and Kehrein S 2010 Crossover from adiabatic to sudden interaction quenches in the Hubbard model: prethermalization and non-equilibrium dynamics New J. Phys. 12 055016
- [20] Barnett R, Polkovnikov A and Vengalattore M 2011 Prethermalization in quenched spinor condensates *Phys. Rev.* A 84 023606
- [21] Marino J and Silva A 2012 Relaxation, prethermalization and diffusion in a noisy quantum ising chain *Phys. Rev. B* 86 060408
- [22] Mathey L and Polkovnikov A 2010 Light cone dynamics and reverse Kibble–Zurek mechanism in twodimensional superfluids following a quantum quench *Phys. Rev.* A 81 033605
- [23] Kitagawa T, Pielawa S, Imambekov A, Schmiedmayer J, Gritsev V and Demler E 2010 Ramsey interference in one-dimensional systems: the full distribution function of fringe contrast as a probe of many-body dynamics *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **104** 255302

New Journal of Physics 15 (2013) 075011 (http://www.njp.org/)

## **IOP** Institute of Physics DEUTSCHE PHYSIKALISCHE GESELLSCHAFT

- [24] Kitagawa T, Imambekov A, Schmiedmayer J and Demler E 2011 The dynamics and prethermalization of one dimensional quantum systems probed through the full distributions of quantum noise *New J. Phys.* 13 073018
- [25] Gring M 2012 Prethermalization in an isolated many body system *PhD Thesis* Technische Universität Wien
- [26] Giamarchi T 2004 Quantum Physics in One Dimension (International Series of Monographs on Physics) (Oxford: Clarendon)
- [27] Lieb E H and Liniger W 1963 Exact analysis of an interacting Bose gas: I. The general solution and the ground state *Phys. Rev.* 130 1605–16
- [28] Yang C N 1969 Thermodynamics of a one-dimensional system of bosons with repulsive delta-function interaction J. Math. Phys. 10 1115
- [29] Petrov D S, Shlyapnikov G V and Walraven J T M 2000 Regimes of quantum degeneracy in trapped 1d gases Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 3745–9
- [30] Petrov D, Shlyapnikov G and Walraven J 2001 Phase-fluctuating 3D Bose–Einstein condensates in elongated traps Phys. Rev. Lett. 87 050404
- [31] Kheruntsyan K, Gangardt D, Drummond P and Shlyapnikov G 2003 Pair correlations in a finite-temperature 1D Bose gas *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **91** 040403
- [32] Hofferberth S, Lesanovsky I, Schumm T, Imambekov A, Gritsev V, Demler E and Schmiedmayer J 2008 Probing quantum and thermal noise in an interacting many-body system *Nature Phys.* 4 489–95
- [33] Betz T et al 2011 Two-point phase correlations of a one-dimensional bosonic Josephson junction Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 020407
- [34] Bistritzer R and Altman E 2007 Intrinsic dephasing in one-dimensional ultracold atom interferometers Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 104 9955–9
- [35] Polkovnikov A, Altman E and Demler E 2006 Interference between independent fluctuating condensates Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 103 6125–9
- [36] Imambekov A, Gritsev V and Demler E 2008 Mapping of Coulomb gases and sine-Gordon models to statistics of random surfaces *Phys. Rev.* A 77 063606
- [37] Schumm T 2005 Bose–Einstein condensates in magnetic double well potentials *PhD Thesis* University of Paris Sud/University of Heidelberg
- [38] Hofferberth S, Lesanovsky I, Fischer B, Schumm T and Schmiedmayer J 2007 Non-equilibrium coherence dynamics in one-dimensional Bose gases *Nature* 449 324–7
- [39] Jo G-B, Choi J-H, Christensen C A, Lee Y-R, Pasquini T A, Ketterle W and Pritchard D E 2007 Matter–wave interferometry with phase fluctuating Bose–Einstein condensates *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 99 240406
- [40] Widera A, Trotzky S, Cheinet P, Fölling S, Gerbier F, Bloch I, Gritsev V, Lukin M and Demler E 2008 Quantum spin dynamics of mode-squeezed Luttinger liquids in two-component atomic gases *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 100 1–4
- [41] Stimming H-P, Mauser N J, Schmiedmayer J and Mazets I E 2010 Fluctuations and stochastic processes in one-dimensional many-body quantum systems *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 105 015301
- [42] Hanbury Brown R and Twiss R Q 1956 Correlation between photons in two coherent beams of light Nature 177 27–9
- [43] Glauber R 1963 Photon correlations Phys. Rev. Lett. 10 84–6
- [44] De-Picciotto R, Reznikov M, Heiblum M, Umansky V, Bunin G and Mahalu D 1997 Direct observation of a fractional charge *Nature* 389 162–4
- [45] Saminadayar L, Glattli D, Jin Y and Etienne B 1997 Observation of the e/3 fractionally charged Laughlin quasiparticle Phys. Rev. Lett. 79 2526–9
- [46] Öttl A, Ritter S, Köhl M and Esslinger T 2005 Correlations and counting statistics of an atom laser *Phys. Rev.* Lett. 95 4–7
- [47] Aspect A, Boiron D and Westbrook C 2008 Quantum atom optics with bosons and fermions *Europhys. News* 39 25–9
- [48] Altman E, Demler E and Lukin M 2004 Probing many-body states of ultracold atoms via noise correlations Phys. Rev. A 70 6–9

New Journal of Physics 15 (2013) 075011 (http://www.njp.org/)

# **IOP** Institute of Physics **O**DEUTSCHE PHYSIKALISCHE GESELLSCHAFT

- [49] Folling S, Gerbier F, Widera A, Mandel O, Gericke T and Bloch I 2005 Spatial quantum noise interferometry in expanding ultracold atom clouds *Nature* 434 481–4
- [50] Spielman I, Phillips W and Porto J 2007 Mott-insulator transition in a two-dimensional atomic Bose gas Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 1–4
- [51] Rom T, Best Th, van Oosten D, Schneider U, Folling S, Paredes B and Bloch I 2006 Free fermion antibunching in a degenerate atomic Fermi gas released from an optical lattice *Nature* 444 733–6
- [52] Guarrera V, Fabbri N, Fallani L, Fort C, van der Stam K and Inguscio M 2008 Noise correlation spectroscopy of the broken order of a Mott insulating phase *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 100 7–10
- [53] Perrin A, Bucker R, Manz S, Betz T, Koller C, Plisson T, Schumm T and Schmiedmayer J 2012 Hanbury Brown and Twiss correlations across the Bose–Einstein condensation threshold *Nature Phys.* 8 195–8
- [54] Mermin N D and Wagner H 1966 Absence of ferromagnetism or antiferromagnetism in one- or twodimensional isotropic Heisenberg models *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 17 1133–6
- [55] Hohenberg P C 1967 Existence of long-range order in one and two dimensions Phys. Rev. 158 383-6
- [56] Gritsev V, Altman E, Demler E and Polkovnikov A 2006 Full quantum distribution of contrast in interference experiments between interacting one dimensional Bose liquids *Nature Phys.* 2 705–9
- [57] Wildermuth S, Krüger P, Becker C, Brajdic M, Haupt S, Kasper A, Folman R and Schmiedmayer J 2004 Optimized magneto-optical trap for experiments with ultracold atoms near surfaces *Phys. Rev.* A 69 030901
- [58] Reichel J and Vuletic V (ed) 2011 Atom Chips (Weinheim: Wiley-VCH)
- [59] Gerbier F 2004 Quasi-1D Bose–Einstein condensates in the dimensional crossover regime *Europhys. Lett.* 66 771–7
- [60] Hofferberth S, Lesanovsky I, Fischer B, Verdu J and Schmiedmayer J 2006 Radio-frequency dressed state potentials for neutral atoms *Nature Phys.* 2 710–6
- [61] Lesanovsky I, Schumm T, Hofferberth S, Andersson L M, Krüger P and Schmiedmayer J 2006 Adiabatic radio frequency potentials for the coherent manipulation of matter waves *Phys. Rev.* A 73 033619
- [62] Ananikian D and Bergeman T 2006 Gross–Pitaevskii equation for Bose particles in a double-well potential: two-mode models and beyond *Phys. Rev.* A 73 013604
- [63] Schumm T, Hofferberth S, Andersson L M, Wildermuth S, Groth S, Bar-Joseph I, Schmiedmayer J and Kruger P 2005 Matter-wave interferometry in a double well on an atom chip *Nature Phys.* 1 57–62
- [64] Dettmer S et al 2001 Observation of phase fluctuations in elongated Bose–Einstein condensates Phys. Rev. Lett. 87 160406
- [65] Imambekov A, Mazets I E, Petrov D S, Gritsev V, Manz S, Hofferberth S, Schumm T, Demler E and Schmiedmayer J 2009 Density ripples in expanding low-dimensional gases as a probe of correlations *Phys. Rev.* A 80 033604
- [66] Manz S et al 2010 Two-point density correlations of quasicondensates in free expansion Phys. Rev. A 81 031610
- [67] Metcalf H J and van der Straten P 1999 Laser Cooling and Trapping (Berlin: Springer)
- [68] Bücker R, Perrin A, Manz S, Betz T, Koller Ch, Plisson T, Rottmann J, Schumm T and Schmiedmayer J 2009 Single-particle-sensitive imaging of freely propagating ultracold atoms *New J. Phys.* 11 103039
- [69] Smith D A, Aigner S, Hofferberth S, Gring M, Andersson M, Wildermuth S, Krüger P, Schneider S, Schumm T and Schmiedmayer J 2011 Absorption imaging of ultracold atoms on atom chips *Opt. Express* 19 8471
- [70] Armijo J, Jacqmin T, Kheruntsyan K and Bouchoule I 2010 Probing three-body correlations in a quantum gas using the measurement of the third moment of density fluctuations *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **105** 3–6
- [71] Andrews M R, Townsend C G, Miesner H-J, Durfee D S, Kurn D M and Ketterle W 1997 Observation of interference between two Bose condensates *Science* 275 637–41
- [72] van Amerongen A H, van Es J J P, Wicke P, Kheruntsyan K V and van Druten N J 2008 Yang–Yang thermodynamics on an atom chip *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **100** 090402
- [73] Armijo J, Jacqmin T, Kheruntsyan K and Bouchoule I 2011 Mapping out the quasicondensate transition through the dimensional crossover from one to three dimensions *Phys. Rev.* A 83 021605
- [74] Lewenstein M and You L 1996 Quantum phase diffusion of a Bose–Einstein condensate *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 77 3489–93

New Journal of Physics 15 (2013) 075011 (http://www.njp.org/)

#### **IOP** Institute of Physics DEUTSCHE PHYSIKALISCHE GESELLSCHAFT

- [75] Javanainen J and Ivanov M 1999 Splitting a trap containing a Bose–Einstein condensate: atom number fluctuations Phys. Rev. A 60 2351–9
- [76] Kuhnert M, Geiger R, Langen T, Gring M, Rauer B, Kitagawa T, Demler E, Adu Smith D and Schmiedmayer J 2013 Multimode dynamics and emergence of a characteristic length-scale in a one-dimensional quantum system *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **110** 090405
- [77] Hughes I and Hase T 2010 Measurements and their Uncertainties: A Practical Guide to Modern Error Analysis (Oxford: Oxford University Press)
- [78] Ketterle W, Durfee D S and Stamper-Kurn D M 1999 Making, probing and understanding Bose–Einstein condensates Bose–Einstein Condensation in Atomic Gases, Proc. Int. School of Physics 'Enrico Fermi', Course CXL ed M Inguscio, S Stringari and C E Wieman (Amsterdam: IOS Press) pp 67–176
- [79] Langen T, Gring M, Kuhnert M, Rauer B, Geiger R, Adu D Smith, Mazets I E and Schmiedmayer J 2013 Prethermalization in one-dimensional Bose gases: description by a stochastic Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process *Eur. Phys. J. Spec. Top.* 217 43
- [80] Huang K 1987 Statistical Mechanics (New York: Wiley)
- [81] Burkov A A, Lukin M D and Demler E 2007 Decoherence dynamics in low-dimensional cold atom interferometers *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 98 200404
- [82] van Es J, Whitlock S, Fernholz T, van Amerongen A and van Druten N 2008 Longitudinal character of atomchip-based rf-dressed potentials *Phys. Rev.* A 77 063623
- [83] Hohenester U, Rekdal P, Borzì A and Schmiedmayer J 2007 Optimal quantum control of Bose–Einstein condensates in magnetic microtraps *Phys. Rev.* A 75 023602
- [84] Gerving C S, Hoang T M, Land B J, Anquez M, Hamley C D and Chapman M S 2012 Non-equilibrium dynamics of an unstable quantum pendulum *Nature Commun.* 3 1169
- [85] Mazets I E and Schmiedmayer J 2010 Thermalization in a quasi-one-dimensional ultracold bosonic gas New J. Phys. 12 055023
- [86] Tan S, Pustilnik M and Glazman L I 2010 Relaxation of a high-energy quasiparticle in a one-dimensional Bose gas Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 090404
- [87] Mazets I E 2011 Dynamics and kinetics of quasiparticle decay in a nearly-one-dimensional degenerate Bose gas Phys. Rev. A 83 043625
- [88] Langen T, Geiger R, Kuhnert M, Rauer B and Schmiedmayer J arXiv:1305.3708